2019

**HOLLY REBECCA ROSSER, Petitioner, v. Ronald Lee Rosser,
Respondent. : Petitioner's Opening Brief**

Utah Supreme Court

INTRODUCTION

This appeal is from a contempt proceeding arising out of a divorce action. The district court adjudged Respondent Ron Rosser [“Ron”] in contempt of court for fraudulently inducing Petitioner Holly Rosser [“Holly”] to stipulate to a provision in their Decree of Divorce, which resulted in Holly being solely responsible for the parties’ tax obligation of over \$22,000. This was despite the parties agreeing at mediation that they would divide the tax obligation equally.

The Court of Appeals reversed the district court’s judgment, holding that because Ron’s misrepresentations were directed at Holly rather than the district court itself, they did not constitute contemptible “deceit” under Utah Code § 78B-6-301(4). However, this interpretation is not supported by either the plain text of the statute or by its context or purpose. Rather, these factors, as well as the case law of other jurisdictions and scholarly authority, support an interpretation that focuses not on who the deceit is communicated to, but rather whether the deceit interfered with the administration of justice, which Ron’s deceit clearly did.

Moreover, The Court of Appeals reached this issue despite the fact that Ron did not raise the issue of whether his acts qualified as contemptible deceit before the district court or in his opening brief before the Court of Appeals. As such, the issue was improperly reached and is

reversible error. The Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals and remand for further proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

In its Order of June 24, 2019,¹ this Court granted certiorari as to the following issues:

Issue One: Whether the Court of Appeals erred in its construction and application of Subsection 78B-6-301(4) of the Utah Code.²

Background and Preservation. The district court found Ron in contempt “due to his deliberate deceit” by “knowingly and intentionally [misleading Holly] about his failure to pay the taxes he agreed to pay on June 16, 2016.”³ The Court of Appeals reversed the district court’s decision, holding that the term “deceit” in Utah Code § 78B-6-301(4) [“Subsection (4)”] is limited to actions taken toward the court itself, and not toward another party.⁴ Holly timely objected to the Court of Appeals’ decision on this issue by raising it in her Petition for Writ of Certiorari,⁵ thereby preserving the issue.

1. A copy of this order is included in the addendum—*see infra* at 55.

2. As this statute is of central importance to this appeal, it is reproduced in its entirety in the addendum. *See infra* at 35.

3. *Infra* at 52–53 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶ 16 & Conclusions ¶ 2) (R. at 1134–35).

4. *Infra* at 42–43 (Op. at ¶ 14).

5. Pet. Cert. at 1, 12–18 (filed Apr. 17, 2019).

Standard of Review. This Court reviews the legal conclusions of the Court of Appeals for correctness.⁶

Issue Two: Whether the Court of Appeals erred in addressing the issue of the proper interpretation of Subsection 78B-6-301(4) of the Utah Code in light of the briefing on appeal.

Background and Preservation. The Court of Appeals reversed the District Court's decision on the basis that Ron's acts did not fall within the scope of contemptible deceit under Subsection (4) as a matter of law. However, this issue was neither preserved in the district court, nor was it raised in Ron's opening brief on appeal. Moreover, the Court of Appeals did not give the parties notice that it would consider the issue *sua sponte*, did not order supplemental briefing on the issue, and did not analyze whether the issue was properly considered under an exception to the general rule of waiver in its opinion. As Holly had no notice of the Court of Appeals' action before its opinion was issued, she timely objected by raising it in her Petition for Writ of Certiorari,⁷ thereby preserving the issue.

Standard of Review. This Court reviews the Court of Appeals' application of the rules regarding preservation and waiver for correctness.⁸

6. *Harris v. ShopKo Stores, Inc.*, 2013 UT 34, ¶ 16, 308 P.3d 449.

7. Pet. Cert. at 1, 18–20.

8. *State v. Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 6, 416 P.3d 443.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case is a contempt proceeding arising out of a divorce action. After the divorce decree was entered on August 8, 2016,⁹ Holly filed a motion for order to show cause on November 11, 2016, alleging that Ron had fraudulently induced her to stipulate to a term in the decree that was inconsistent with the parties' settlement agreement, and seeking her damages caused by Ron's deceit as well as her costs and attorney fees.¹⁰ On January 3, 2017, Ron filed a cross-motion for order to show cause, alleging that he was entitled under the decree to certain rebate checks received by Holly and that she had failed to deliver them to him.¹¹

The district court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the matters raised in these motions on August 17, 2017.¹² On August 28, 2017, the district court issued a written ruling finding Ron in contempt "due to his deliberate deceit," finding that Holly was not in contempt, and awarding judgment for Holly.¹³ On September 6, 2017, the district court entered a

9. R. at 481–499.

10. R. at 500–505.

11. R. at 528–530.

12. R. at 1129 (minutes of hearing); 1267–1404 (transcript of evidentiary hearing).

13. *Infra* at 49–54 (R. at 1131–1136).

supplemental judgment for Holly’s costs and attorney fees.¹⁴ Ron appealed these judgments on September 1 and 22, 2017.¹⁵

After receiving the parties’ briefs and hearing oral argument, on January 10, 2019, the Court of Appeals issued an opinion reversing the district court’s order on grounds that the acts that the district court found that Ron committed did not constitute “deceit, or abuse of the process or proceedings of the court”¹⁶ or “disobedience of a lawful judgment, order or process of the court” under Utah Code § 78B-6-301(4)–(5).¹⁷ On February 14, 2019, the Court of Appeals amended the opinion to clarify an ancillary issue.¹⁸ Holly petitioned this Court for certiorari review on April 17, 2019, which this Court granted in an order dated June 24, 2019.¹⁹

FACTUAL BACKGROUND

The following are the facts material to the issue presented, recited “from the record in the light most favorable to the findings of the trial court” as required by the procedures of this Court.²⁰

After twenty-five years of marriage, Holly and Ron separated in 2014, and Holly later petitioned for divorce.²¹ After filing cross-petitions

14. *Infra* at 55 (R. at 1210).

15. R. at 1152, 1229.

16. *Infra* at 42–44 (Op. at ¶¶ 13–16).

17. *Infra* at 44–46 (Op. at ¶¶ 17–20).

18. *Infra* at 48 (Op. at ¶ 21 n.9).

19. *Infra* at 55.

20. *See State v. Moosman*, 794 P.2d 474, 476 (Utah 1990).

for divorce in the district court,²² the parties attended mediation and executed a settlement agreement on June 16, 2016.²³ Paragraph 15 of that settlement agreement provided that the parties would split their 2015 debt to the IRS agreement equally.²⁴ At that time, the parties owed \$29,901.71 to the IRS for their business and personal taxes for 2015.²⁵ Holly paid her half of the 2015 IRS debt shortly after mediation.²⁶

Ron's counsel then prepared proposed findings of fact and conclusions of law and a proposed decree of divorce.²⁷ However, instead of providing that the parties were to split their 2015 IRS debt equally, the proposed decree provided that Holly "shall pay all fees charged by" the tax preparer, and she "shall be solely entitled to receive any refund resulting from the amended returns, and shall also be responsible to pay any tax liabilities resulting to any of the parties for the year 2015."²⁸ This was because after mediation, the parties decided to file an amended return for 2015, which would result in a \$7,900.00 refund, provided that each party

21. *Infra* at 37 (Op. at ¶ 2).

22. R. at 1–7, 15–30.

23. *Infra* at 50 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶ 1) (R. at 1132); R. at 398–400 (settlement agreement).

24. *Infra* at 50 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶ 4) (R. at 1132); R. at 399 ("IRS debt from 2015, 50% Ron and 50% Holly.").

25. *Infra* at 50 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶ 5) (R. at 1132); R. at 569 (tax bill from IRS dated June 6, 2016).

26. *Infra* at 50 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶ 7) (R. at 1132).

27. R. at 427–461.

28. R. at 453–454 (Paragraph 9.r).

had paid his or her half of the IRS debt.²⁹ Holly agreed to pay the tax preparer's fee in exchange for receiving the entirety of the refund.³⁰ Thus, Holly's counsel approved the proposed findings and decree, including the changed provision for the 2015 tax debt,³¹ and the district court signed and entered the findings and decree on August 8, 2016.³² The parties then signed and filed the amended tax return on August 22, 2016.³³ However, Holly later found out that despite what he had led her to believe, Ron had not paid his half of the 2015 IRS debt.³⁴ Instead of receiving a \$7,900.00 refund, Holly had to pay an additional \$7,194.98.³⁵

COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS IN DISTRICT COURT

After receiving this tax bill, Holly filed a motion for order to show cause on November 11, 2016,³⁶ alleging as follows:

In the foregoing circumstances, [Ron] has defrauded [Holly]. [Ron] knowingly made a material misrepresentation as to a presently existing fact. To wit: that he had theretofore paid his \$14,951.11

29. *Infra* at 50 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶ 8) (R. at 1132).

30. R. at 885 (July 29, 2016 email from Ron's counsel stating, "if Holly is willing to pay the \$914.59 (or whatever the exact amount of the Precise bill will be for the amended return), then I think I can get Ron to agree to let Holly keep the tax refunds"); R. at 1301 (Transcript, Hearing of Aug. 17, 2017, 35:7–19 (Testimony of Holly Rosser)).

31. R. at 403–426.

32. R. at 462–499.

33. R. at 1017.

34. *Infra* at 51–52 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶¶ 10–16) (R. at 1133–34).

35. R. at 577 (tax bill from IRS dated Oct. 10, 2016).

36. R. at 500–503.

share of the 2015 tax bill. Such representation was material and was made with malice for the purpose of inducing [Holly] to settle on those terms. [Holly] reasonably relied upon the misrepresentation to her detriment.³⁷

Holly requested her damages caused by Ron's deceit as well as her costs and attorney fees.³⁸ Despite the allegation of deceit and fraud in Holly's Motion for Order to Show Cause, Ron did not argue at any time before the district court that Holly's allegation of fraud did not constitute contemptible deceit under Subsection (4), either at a hearing transcribed and included in the record³⁹ or in any written submission.⁴⁰

Additionally, on December 1, 2016, Holly received rebate checks from IPC that belonged to Ron under the Decree.⁴¹ Holly retained possession of these checks to secure payment for the amounts she believed she was owed for the 2015 taxes.⁴² On January 3, 2017, Ron filed a cross-motion for order to show cause, alleging that he was entitled under the

37. R. at 502.

38. R. at 502–503.

39. The transcripts for hearings held between Holly's Motion for Order to Show Cause and Ron's Amended Notice of Appeal are located at R. at 809–846, 1257–1422.

40. Ron's written submissions to the Court filed between Holly's Motion for Order to Show Cause and Ron's Amended Notice of Appeal are located at R. at 517–22, 538–46, 548–50, 620–51, 682–702, 733–798, 911–1025, 1053–1109, 1115–28, 1152–86, 1195–1201, 1217–21, and 1224–30.

41. R. at 600–603.

42. R. at 583.

decree to certain rebate checks received by Holly and that she had failed to deliver them to him.⁴³

After some procedural wrangling,⁴⁴ the district court conducted an evidentiary hearing on the matters raised in the parties' respective motions for order to show cause on August 17, 2017.⁴⁵ On August 28, 2017, the district court issued a written ruling, finding in relevant part:

5. The parties had received an IRS notice dated June 6, 2016, which notified them that they owed \$29,902.21 for unpaid 2015 taxes.
6. The parties agreed [in Paragraph 15 of the June 16, 2016 mediation agreement] to each pay one half of that debt, or \$14,951.11.
7. [Holly] paid her share of \$14,951.11 within days of reaching the settlement agreement.
8. The parties intended on June 16, 2016 to file an Amended 2015 tax return, which would result in [Holly] receiving a \$7,900.00 tax refund, which would only happen if they each paid their share of the [] \$29,902.21 in taxes.

43. R. at 528–530.

44. The district court initially ruled in Holly's favor on the grounds that the undisputed material facts established his contempt (R. at 604, 705–719). In an attempt to vacate this ruling and present evidence at an evidentiary hearing, Ron filed a motion for reconsideration (R. at 623–640), a Rule 59 motion for new trial (R. at 733–746), and a Rule 60(b) motion to set aside (R. at 747–758). In addition to opposing these motions, Holly filed a Rule 56 motion for summary judgment dismissing Ron's motions (R. at 1029–1043). These motions were disposed of in the district court's order of July 25, 2017 setting aside its previous order of contempt and granting an evidentiary hearing (R. at 1118–1119).

45. R. at 1129 (minutes of hearing); 1267–1404 (transcript of evidentiary hearing).

9. [Holly] assumed she would receive the \$7,900.00 refund from the Amended 2015 tax return, so she approved the amended tax return.
10. At no point did [Ron] tell [Holly] that he had failed to pay his \$14,951.11 tax obligation.
11. Both [Holly] and [the parties'] accountant relied upon [Ron] having paid his \$14,951.11.
12. [Ron] knew he would eventually be found out, but chose to let his deception go forward.
13. Consequently, [Holly] did not receive the agreed-upon \$7,900.00 refund and she eventually had to pay an additional \$7,174.98 in taxes to the IRS.
14. [Holly] had to pay the additional \$7,174.98 because on August 4, 2016, the parties entered into a Stipulated Motion For Entry of Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Final Decree of Divorce, which required [Holly] to pay any remaining tax liabilities for 2015, which she assumed was zero.
15. At the time this Stipulated Motion was filed, only [Ron] knew he had failed to pay the obligation agreed to on June 16, 2016.
16. After listening to the parties at trial it was evident that [Ron] knowingly and intentionally misled [Holly] about his failure to pay the taxes he agreed to pay on June 16, 2016.⁴⁶

Based on these findings, the district court concluded that Ron was in contempt “due to his deliberate deceit and failure to act as agreed between the parties” in the mediation agreement.⁴⁷ The district court further concluded that despite not paying the rebates as required by the decree, Holly was not in contempt “due to her being victimized by [Ron’s]

46. *Infra* at 50–52 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶¶ 1, 5–16) (R. at 1132–1134).

47. *Infra* at 53 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Conclusions ¶ 2) (R. at 1135).

deceit.”⁴⁸ The district court then awarded judgment for \$15,074.98 in damages to Holly, plus her reasonable costs and attorney fees (which the Court found she was entitled to because they “would not have been incurred if [Ron] had not been deceitful”),⁴⁹ and less the amount of the rebates owing to Ron.⁵⁰ On September 6, 2017, the district court entered a supplemental judgment for Holly’s costs and attorney fees in the amount of \$17,870.00.⁵¹

PROCEEDINGS IN AND DISPOSITION BY COURT OF APPEALS

On appeal before the Court of Appeals, Ron did not raise the issue of whether the facts found by the district court constituted contemptible deceit under Subsection (4).⁵² Instead, in the portion of his opening brief dealing with fraud and deceit, Ron appeared to assume that deceit toward Holly is contemptible, and only addressed whether the evidence supporting his deceit was sufficient for the district court to find fraud by clear and convincing evidence.⁵³ The first time Ron distinguished between

48. *Infra* at 52–53 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶¶ 20–23 & Conclusions ¶ 1) (R. at 1134–35).

49. *Infra* at 53 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Findings ¶ 23 & Conclusions ¶ 4) (R. at 1135).

50. *Infra* at 54 (Dist. Ct. Ruling, Judgment ¶¶ 1–3) (R. at 1136).

51. *Infra* at 55 (R. at 1210).

52. Br. Appellant, 1–3 (Feb. 18, 2018) (outlining the issues raised on appeal).

53. Br. Appellant, 12–14 (Point II of Argument section).

regular fraud and contemptible deceit was in his reply brief.⁵⁴ Notwithstanding the fact that the issue was first raised in Ron’s reply brief, and without giving notice or an opportunity for supplemental briefing, the Court of Appeals considered and decided the issue of whether Ron’s deceit toward Holly was contemptible deceit under Subsection (4).⁵⁵

In interpreting this statute, the Court of Appeals did not rely on any past Utah cases interpreting this statute or statutes with similar language, nor did it rely upon case law from other jurisdictions or authoritative scholarship on the issue. (As no supplemental briefing had been ordered, Holly was not in a position to provide case law and other authority at that time.) Rather, it concluded that since “the entire thrust of the subsection is aimed at allowing a court to penalize deceitful misuse of judicial proceedings by parties to those proceedings,” the term “deceit” must be limited to actions taken toward the court itself, and not toward another party.⁵⁶ The Court of Appeals concluded that since “the deceit the [district] court described in its findings” committed upon Holly rather than upon the court, it was not contemptible deceit under the statute, and the district court erred in holding Ron in contempt on those grounds.⁵⁷

54. Reply Br. Appellant, 9–11 (Point II.B. of Argument section).

55. *Infra* at 42–44 (Op. at ¶¶ 13–16).

56. *Infra* at 42–43 (Op. at ¶ 14).

57. *Infra* at 42, 47 (Op. at ¶¶ 13 & 21).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This matter can be decided on one of two grounds—the Court can either decide the question of the proper interpretation of Subsection (4) on its merits, or it can reverse the Court of Appeals’ decision as improperly reached, as the issue decided was never before it.

Point I of the Argument details how the Court of Appeals’ interpretation of Subsection (4) as only applying to deceit communicated directly to a court is not supported by either the plain text of the statute or by its context or purpose. Rather, these factors, as well as the case law of other jurisdictions and scholarly authority, support an interpretation that focuses not on who the deceit is communicated to, but rather whether the deceit interfered with the administration of justice. This is similar to a related principle in Utah law: the Fraud on the Court doctrine, which distinguishes between ordinary fraud and fraud that defiles the court, interferes with the administration of justice, or hinders a party from presenting its claim or defense. Courts in several jurisdictions have noted that fraud on the court is grounds for contempt, and this Court should adopt this reasoning.

Point II of the Argument points out that the issue of the proper interpretation of Subsection (4) was neither preserved in the lower court or raised in Ron’s opening brief, and discusses the circumstances in which an appellate court may rule on such an issue. There were no exceptions that applied to allow the Court of Appeals to raise the issue *sua sponte*, but even if there were, the procedural requirements for raising the issue

were not followed, making the Court of Appeals' decision improper and reversible error. For either of these reasons, the Court should reverse the decision of the Court of Appeals and remand to determine any properly raised outstanding issues in the original appeal.

ARGUMENT

I. THIS COURT SHOULD REVERSE THE COURT OF APPEALS' DECISION AND HOLD THAT THE SCOPE OF CONTEMPTIBLE DECEIT UNDER SUBSECTION (4) IS EQUIVALENT TO THAT OF THE DOCTRINE OF FRAUD ON THE COURT.

The first issue certified for review by this Court is the proper construction and application of Subsection (4). Subsection (4) is part of Utah Code § 78B-6-301, which lists a number of acts or omissions constituting contempt, and provides, in relevant part:

The following acts or omissions in respect to a court or its proceedings are contempts of the authority of the court: . . .

(4) “deceit, or abuse of the process or proceedings of the court, by a party to an action or special proceeding[.]”

As explained *supra* in the Statement of the Case, the Court of Appeals interpreted Subsection (4) to mean that a “deceit” is only contemptible if it is directed toward the court itself, and not toward another party or person. However, Holly believes that this interpretation is in error. As the proper interpretation of Subsection (4) and the proper scope of a district court’s power to hold a party in contempt for fraud or deceit is a question of first impression for this Court,⁵⁸ Holly will review

58. See Pet. Cert. at 13–14.

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