Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (2000-)

2019

HOLLY REBECCA ROSSER, Petitioner, v. Ronald Lee Rosser, Respondent.: BRIEF OF THE RESPONDENT

Utah Supreme Court

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

Classic examples are bribery, direct submission of "bogus" documents, or perjury, although not all cases involving even perjured testimony have been sufficient. *Id.*; *Kennedy v. Schneider Elec.*, 893 F.3d 414, 419 (7th Cir. 2018) (defining rule narrowly "lest it become an open sesame to collateral attacks"); *United States v. Estate of Stonehill*, 660 F.3d 415, 444 (9th Cir. 2011) (discussing breadth of fraud on the court and observing "[m]ere nondisclosure of evidence is typically not enough to constitute fraud on the court").¹²

¹² Holly briefly raises a policy argument — that the submission of proposed orders presents a situation ripe for fraud, because the district court may not carefully review a party's submission. Pet'r's Opening Br. at 18-19. Other rules or standards operate as deterrents to this concern. *See, e.g.,* Utah R. Civ. P. 11 (setting standard for signature); Utah R. Civ. P. 7(j)(4) (allowing objections to proposed order); Utah

In summary, Holly's invitation to import the doctrine into the contempt statute suffers in three respects. First, the doctrine often serves a very specific remedy—setting aside or modifying an existing judgment or order in order to vindicate the court's authority—rather than a basis for an independent judgment for monetary damages for the benefit of a private party. Second, the doctrine applies in a narrow set of circumstances, which are not implicated here. Third and finally, the doctrine typically applies in the context of a Rule 60(b) motion, which would be subject to time constraints, or an independent action, during which a party could avail herself of discovery. *Supra* Argument, § I.C.

For all these reasons, the court should conclude that the doctrine is a poor fit for statutory contempt proceedings.

F. Holly's application of the fraud on the court doctrine inaccurately presumes that the district court made adequate findings.

Finally, in a single paragraph, Holly argues that the facts of this case demonstrate a deception "that interferes with the administration of justice and that fits nicely into Utah's Fraud on the Court doctrine." Pet'r's Opening Br. at 25.

R. Civ. P. 60(b) (allowing court to set aside or modify final order upon a timely challenge). More importantly, as a factual matter, these concerns are not implicated here; the parties negotiated the terms of the stipulation, Holly reviewed and signed the Stipulation, and her counsel approved the language of the Decree.

The problem is that Holly never presented the lower courts with the issue of whether Ron engaged "in a deliberate course of deception to obtain a court order" or otherwise interfered with the administration of justice, as typically required by the fraud of the court doctrine. *See* R.500-04. Instead, without invoking the statute, she only argued that Ron misrepresented that he "had theretofore paid his \$14,951.11 share of the tax debt under . . . the Mediation Settlement Agreement." R.501-10. Likewise, the district court did not make specific findings that would support such a conclusion. *See* R.1131-35.

For these reasons, if the Court adopts Holly's interpretation of Subsection (4), it should decline Holly's cursory invitation to apply the fraud on the court doctrine at this stage of the case. *Infra* Argument, § III (addressing appropriateness of remand).¹³

_

¹³ As a practical matter, it is difficult to see how these facts satisfy the demands of the fraud on the court doctrine, which typically requires conduct so serious that it undermines the integrity of the judicial proceedings. Although courts have recognized that a decree induced by fraud may constitute fraud on the court in some circumstances, *see Kartchner v. Kartchner*, 2014 UT App 195, ¶ 26, 334 P.3d 1 (discussing cases), here, it is undisputed that Holly signed the stipulation that formed the basis of the Decree. R.1308, 1327; *see Soltanieh v. King*, 826 P.2d 1076, 1078 (Utah Ct. App. 1992) (concluding that party failed to demonstrate fraud on the court, where he signed the stipulation containing the property distribution provisions contained in the decree).

II. The Legal Issue of the Proper Scope of Section 78B-6-301(4) Was Squarely Before the Court of Appeals.

Holly contends the court of appeals should not have considered whether Subsection (4) provided a basis for contempt, because Ron did not raise the statute in the district court proceedings or his opening brief. *See* Pet'r's Opening Br. at 25-31. Holly's argument is unpersuasive for two principal reasons, as discussed below.

A. This appeal does not implicate the jurisprudential concerns at the heart of the *Johnson* decision or its holding.

State v. Johnson involved a defendant's appeal of his murder conviction. 2017 UT 76, ¶¶ 1-5, 416 P.3d 443. To the court of appeals, the defendant argued that his conviction should not stand, because the verdict form failed to include an option to find him guilty of a lesser offense (homicide by assault) and errors in the jury instruction on causation required reversal. *Id.* \P 3.

Sua sponte, the court of appeals asked the parties to submit supplemental briefing on an issue *never* raised by the defendant: "whether the homicide by assault jury instruction was erroneous." *Id.* ¶ 4. In doing so, the court recognized that the defendant never objected to that instruction, and he "likely invited the error by submitting the instruction to the court." *Id.* The court nevertheless concluded that "the exceptional circumstances exception to the preservation rule permitted the court to examine the unpreserved and likely invited error." *Id.*

This Court granted certiorari to resolve "whether the court of appeals correctly concluded that exceptional circumstances merit review of an issue not preserved in the trial court and not argued on appeal." *Id.* ¶ 1. In doing so, the Court addressed the historical and analytical underpinnings of preservation in our appellate system and explained that policy considerations, such as judicial economy, fairness, preservation of the adversarial model, and providing clear guidelines for parties, weighed in favor of creating exceptions to the general preservation rule. *Id.* ¶¶ 8-13; *but see id.* ¶¶ 67-79 (Lee, J., concurring in judgment) (discussing importance of adversarial model in the context of appellate practice).

In its analysis, the Court clarified the standards governing the three exceptions to preservation: plain error; ineffective assistance of counsel; and exceptional circumstances. *Id.* ¶¶ 18-39. With respect to the exceptional circumstances doctrine, the Court emphasized that it should be applied "sparingly" in cases of rare procedural anomalies which "either prevented an appellant from preserving an issue or excuses a failure to do so." *Id.* ¶ 29.

Because the defendant invited the error in the jury instruction, failed to raise ineffective assistance of counsel, and identified a failure to object at trial as the only procedural anomaly, the *Johnson* Court concluded that no exception to the preservation doctrine applied. *Id.* ¶¶ 57-62. Because the issue was unpreserved and none of the exceptions for *sua sponte* consideration applied, the court of

appeals "erred in overruling the trial court *sua sponte* on an issue that was neither preserved in the trial court nor argued on appeal." *Id.* ¶¶ 54-63.

While *Johnson* clarifies the analytical framework for *sua sponte* consideration of issues, its holding is inapposite to the facts of this case for two reasons.

1. Ron preserved the central issue by challenging the district court's authority to enter the contempt order, and the court of appeals did not err in considering a controlling statute implicated by the arguments.

As this Court has recognized, "semantics alone cannot be our guide in applying our preservation rule." *Patterson v. Patterson*, 2011 UT 68, ¶ 15, 266 P.3d 828. Preservation turns, in part, on the underlying policies, principally "judicial economy and fairness." *See id.* ¶¶ 15-16. For these reasons, courts may address arguments that raise newly discovered authority or controlling legislation, insofar as it "directly bears upon a properly preserved issue." *Id.* ¶ 18.

Unlike in *Johnson*, where neither party raised a challenge to a specific jury instruction, Ron consistently challenged the trial court's authority to hold him in contempt or grant the specific relief sought by Holly. In his view, the trial court's contempt authority was limited to compelling compliance with an existing order. Because the Decree required Holly to assume the tax liability for 2015, Ron repeatedly argued that Holly was not entitled to relief. *See, e.g.*, R.741-45, R.1274-1275, 1398. Ron did not waive these arguments in his opening brief.

It is true that neither party specifically referenced Subsection (4) in the trial court proceedings. However, Ron raised the issue of whether it would be procedurally proper to grant Holly's requested relief in several different motions. In his view, because Holly asked the trial court to compel him to pay a portion of the tax obligation, contrary to the language of the Decree, the appropriate procedure was not an order to show cause. *See, e.g.,* R.741-45. This argument necessarily implicated the court's contempt authority.

In point of fact, it was Holly who raised Subsection (4) as an alternative basis for affirming the trial court. Holly argued the trial court had the authority to enter an order of contempt and grant her relief by virtue of the statute. Holly's COA Br. at 20-22. In doing so, Holly appeared to tacitly acknowledge that Ron had challenged the district court's authority. And because Holly invoked the statute, Ron addressed its applicability in his reply brief. Ron's COA Reply at 9-11.

In this respect, this case is more similar to *Patterson* than *Johnson*. In *Patterson*, the Court analyzed and applied provisions of the Utah Uniform Trust Code, even though the appellee never raised the statute below, because it was central to the argument at hand. *Patterson*, 2011 UT 68, ¶ 20 ("As the state's highest court, we have a responsibility to maintain a sound and uniform body of precedent and must apply the statutes duly enacted into law."); *see also Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 14 n.2 ("*Patterson* confirms that we view *issues* narrowly, but also made it clear

that new *arguments*, when brought upon a properly preserved issue or theory, do not require an exception to preservation. Such arguments include citing new authority or cases supporting an issue that was properly preserved.").

In summary, Ron preserved his challenge to the trial court's contempt authority, albeit by invoking a local rule, rather than the statute. And even if the trial court failed to address the statute, the court of appeals acted within its authority when it analyzed the applicability of a controlling statute directed at the same issue, consistently raised by Ron, under *Patterson*.¹⁴

2. Alternatively, the exceptional circumstances doctrine permits consideration of the issue.

While the exceptional circumstances doctrine "has been anchored in the idea of rare procedural anomalies . . . its precise contours require case-by-case assessment." *Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 38. Examples of the doctrine include instances where a statute "opened the door to the possibility of two separate appeals, on the same issue," "when controlling precedent is issued that abolishes the offense for which the defendant was convicted," when a new constitutional argument became

¹⁴ To avoid a *Johnson* problem, Ron must also demonstrate that the issue was not waived. For the same reasons identified above, the Court should conclude that Ron did not waive the central issue in his opening brief. Alternatively, no waiver occurred on appeal, insofar as Ron simply responded to an issue raised in Holly's brief. *See Brown v. Glover*, 2000 UT 89, ¶ 24, 16 P.3d 540 ("[I]f an appellant responds in the reply brief to a new issue raised by the appellee in its opening brief, the issue is not waived.") (citing cases).

available to a defendant after the State raised a contrary position on appeal, and "when the alleged error first arises in the lower court's final order or judgment." *Id.* $\P\P$ 29-36 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

For example, in *State v. Lopez*, this Court considered the applicability of the exceptional circumstances doctrine for an issue that evolved in the course of appeal. *State v. Lopez*, 873 P.2d 1127, 1129 (Utah 1994). The defendant made passing allusions to a state constitutional provision in his motion to suppress, but instead focused on the pretext doctrine under the Fourth Amendment. *Id.* at 1134 n.2. The court of appeals held that the pretext doctrine applied, and the State appealed, challenging its adoption. *Id.* at 1130, 1134.

After the defendant cross-appealed, arguing that the doctrine could also be adopted under the state constitution, the State argued that the Court should decline to reach the issue, because it had been waived. *Id.* at 1134 n.2. This Court disagreed and held that the exceptional circumstances doctrine applied because (a) the defendant "had no reason to argue that the doctrine be adopted under article I, section 14 until the State challenged the doctrine on appeal[,]" and (b) the state constitutional arguments "did not appear applicable until the court of appeals ruled that 'equal protection policies constrain us to uphold the pretext doctrine." *Id.* (quoting *State v. Lopez*, 831 P.2d 1040, 1046 (Utah Ct. App. 1992)).

Similar considerations apply in this case. In the trial court proceedings, Ron invoked the Utah Rules of Judicial Administration, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, and the plain language of the Decree, and he argued that the district court could not enter a contempt order on Holly's fraud-based theory. Ron had little reason to analyze the applicability of the statute, especially when Holly had not raised it as a basis for relief. *See* R.500-04. Similar to *Lopez*, the interpretation of the statute did not appear to be applicable until Holly raised it as a substantive basis for the trial court's contempt order in her responsive brief to the court of appeals. Given this context, it is unsurprising that Ron addressed its applicability in his reply brief, or that the court of appeals analyzed Holly's argument in its decision.

It is the rare case where a party invokes a statute as an alternative basis for affirming a trial court order, but then argues that the court of appeals erred in interpreting the same statute. Similar to *Lopez*, the exceptional circumstances doctrine should operate to permit consideration of an issue that Ron had no reason to address until Holly raised it in the course of the appeal. *Id*.

B. Even applying *Johnson*, the court of appeals had discretion to reach the proper scope of Subsection (4).

Even if the issue was unpreserved and waived, as Holly contends, the court of appeals could nevertheless reach the issue under the *Johnson* test:¹⁵

=

¹⁵ In *Johnson*, the Court disavowed *dicta* from *Robison* and concluded "that any distinction between this court's authority and that of the court of appeals' to

[A]n appellate court may reach a waived and unpreserved issue when it is 1) a purely legal issue, 2) that is almost certain to arise and assist in the analysis in other cases, 3) is necessary to correctly determine an issue that was properly raised, and 4) neither party is unfairly prejudiced by raising the issue at that point or neither party argues that they are unfairly prejudiced.

2017 UT 76, ¶ 51 (citations omitted).¹6 Examples included "whether to overrule precedent on which the parties rely," "interpreting the law that the parties rely on," "determining that a law is inapplicable," "determining if a statute relied upon is still effective", and "considering controlling authority that was not raised by either party." *Id.* ¶ 51 (emphasis added) (citations omitted).

Each of these elements has been met in this case. First, the applicability of a statute and matters of statutory interpretation both present questions of law. *See Hertzske v. Snyder*, 2017 UT 4, ¶¶ 5-6, 390 P.3d 307. This is especially true here, where the court of appeals analyzed the applicability and scope of Subsection (4) as a pure legal question. *See Rosser*, 2019 UT App 25, ¶¶ 9-16.

Second, the appropriate scope and applicability of Subsection (2) is "almost certain to arise and assist in the analysis in other cases." *Johnson*, 2017 UT 76, ¶ 51.

address unpreserved issues, or raise issues *sua sponte*, is unwarranted and should not be the rule." *Id.* ¶ 43.

¹⁶ The Court cautioned its standards were "intended to provide a baseline assessment of where the proper balance between procedural regularity and adjudicative fairness lies." *Id.* ¶ 53.

Indeed, while there are few reported cases involving Subsection (4), the statute may be applied to a range of civil and criminal matters, and clarifying its scope will provide guidance to both parties and courts about the appropriate basis for seeking a contempt order (or relief through an alternative procedural mechanism, such as Rule 60(b) or an independent action) in other cases. *Supra* Argument, § I.

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